STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STEVEN KRANENDONK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-210207

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred by qualifying Investigator Robin Camlin as an expert in navigational rules and in allowing her to offer opinions which exceeded her qualification?

2.

Whether the trial court erred by admitting evidence of appellant's blood alcohol content because the State lacked probable cause to seize appellant's blood under the Fourth Amendment, Fourteenth Amendment, and section 15-21-116 of the South Carolina Code?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 2, 2011, Steven Kranendonk (“Kranendonk”) was indicted for two counts of reckless homicide by operation of a boat. On March 5 – 9, 2012, Kranendonk was tried before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. and a jury. R. 1. Jonathan Harvey represented Kranendonk. R.1. April Sampson, Foster Matthews, and Carter Potts represented the State. R.1. The jury convicted Kranendonk on both counts. R. 666, l. 18 – 667, l. 7. Judge Cooper sentenced Kranendonk to concurrent terms of ten years’ imprisonment. R. 673, l. 23 – 674, l. 3. On March 15, 2012, Kranendonk filed and served his notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

On the night of May 1, 2010, a tragic boating accident occurred on Lake Murray in Richland County. A boat driven by appellant Kranendonk ("Kranendonk Boat") collided with a boat driven by Rob Christofoli ("Christofoli Boat"). Both boats were traveling at speeds in excess of twenty miles per hour during the nighttime when the accident occurred. Two passengers in the Christofoli Boat were killed. Passengers in the Kranendonk Boat were injured.

1. The trial court erred by qualifying Investigator Robin Camlin as an expert in navigational rules and in allowing her to offer opinions which exceeded her qualification.

Relevant Facts

Testimony from the Kranendonk Boat

The passengers in the Kranendonk boat were Kranendonk, Eric Hair ("Hair"), Mallory Collins ("Collins"), and Jenna Breland ("Breland"). Kranendonk and Hair were good friends. R. 223, ll. 6 – 10. On the morning of the incident, Hair called Kranendonk and asked about going out on Lake Murray in Kranendonk's parents' boat. R. 224, l. 23 – 225, l. 1. Hair grew up on the lake. R. 244, ll. 21 – 22. He had been on boats since he was a young child. R. 244, ll. 23 – 25. Hair and Kranendonk had known each other for ten years. R. 223, 4 – 5. They went out on Lake Murray together "a couple times a month." R. 225, ll. 21 – 23. Going out on the boat was a normal and ordinary experience for these two friends. R.225, l. 24 – 2226, l. 1.

Kranendonk and Hair met Collins and Breland and began preparing for their day on the lake. They went to a grocery store and to Total Wine. R. 226, l. 220 – 226, l. 11. Hair could not remember exactly what was purchased at Total Wine. R. 229, ll. 6 – 8. The group then went to Pine Island where Kranendonk's boat was kept. R. 243, ll. 13 – 19. The group left Pine Island at approximately 4:00 or 5:00 PM and went to an island in Lake Murray called Sandy Beach. R. 245, ll. 4 – 11; R. 235, ll. 7 – 9. They anchored and tied up to other boats. R. 245, ll. 6 – 13. Hair described Sandy Beach as a place to listen to music and socialize. R. 245, ll. 14 – 25. Hair said that it is normal for people to share beer and alcohol at Sandy Beach. R. 246, ll. 10 – 17.

When it began getting dark, the Kranendonk Boat left Sandy Beach and went to Johnson's Marina, also known as Lighthouse Marina. R. 232, ll. 4 – 6; R., 355, ll. 16 - 20. They went to a restaurant at Johnson's Marina called the Quarter Deck. R. 247, ll. 3 – 19. The Quarter Deck is also known as The Rusty Anchor. R. 234, ll. 21 – 23. Hair remembered Kranendonk having a drink but did not know exactly what it was. R. 234, ll. 6 – 8. He remembered that it was in a cup with a straw. R. 234, ll. 6 – 8. Kranendonk was acting "normal." R. 234, ll. 9 – 10. The Kranendonk group decided to leave. R. ll. 1 – 3.

They got into the Kranendonk Boat and left the Quarter Deck. R. 235, ll. 14 – 16. It was dark. R. 234, ll. 24 – 25. The area around the marina had a no wake zone. R. 235, ll. 17 – 19. After leaving the no wake zone, the Kranendonk boat, driven by Kranendonk, "throttled up." R. 23

235, l. 17 – 19. Hair said, "About the time we planed out, we were coming up toward the point. I saw the other boat. By the time I saw it, I felt the boat slow down. I knew we were going to impact." R. 235, ll. 20 – 23. Hair said that he knew there would be

an impact "because the boat was close enough that there was no way to avoid it." R. 236, ll. 1 – 2. The boat that was hit was, of course, the Christofoli Boat.

Boats are equipped with navigation lights for nighttime travel. The left side of a boat has a red light. R. 482, l. 25 – 483, l. 2. The right side of a boat has a green light. R. 483, ll. 3 – 4. The back of a boat has a white light. R. 483, ll. 5 – 9. Hair described the Christofoli boat as coming from their right. Just before impact, Hair saw green lights. R. 251, ll. 1 – 20; R. 239, ll. 10 – 15.

Kranendonk was driving. Hair was sitting in the front of the boat. R. 236, ll. 8 – 10. Collins was sitting in the front of the boat to the left of Hair. R. 236, ll. 18 – 22. Collins, Kranendonk, and Breland were ejected from the boat. R. 236, l. 3 – 238, l. 14; R. 200, ll. 20 – 22. Hair realized he was the only one left in the boat. R. 237, ll. 4 – 6. He took control of the boat and put it in neutral. R. 237, ll. 7 – 10. He called 911 and told them "we've been hit by another boat. My friends are in the water." R.237, ll. 13 – 16.

Hair then put 911 on hold and began looking for his friends. R. 237, ll. 13 – 21. He heard Kranendonk respond and drove towards him. R. 238, ll. 12 – 17. Once he pulled his friends into the boat, Hair realized he had been injured. R. 238, ll. 15 – 17. Hair suffered a broken arm. R. 240, ll. 1 – 5. Collins had a gash on her face. R. 203, ll. 9 – 11. Breland hurt her shoulder. R. 203, ll. 17 – 19.

Kranendonk took over control of the boat. R. 238, ll. 21 – 22. They looked around to see if there were other boats, but did not see any. R. 262, ll. 10 – 17. Kranendonk then drove the boat to Lake Murray Marina. R. 262, ll. 18 – 20. Hair testified that both before and after the accident, he had no concerns about Kranendonk's operation of the boat. R.

262, l. 21 – 265, l. 20. He testified that nothing about Kranendonk's driving led him to believe that Kranendonk was proceeding in an unsafe manner. R. 265, ll. 14 – 20.

Breland's testimony corroborated Hair's testimony. Breland was sitting beside Kranendonk at the time of the accident. R. 198, ll. 9 – 18. She saw the Christofoli Boat coming from her right side. R. 198, ll. 18 – 21. She saw red and green lights on the Christofoli boat. R. 198, ll. 22 – 25. Breland testified that Kranendonk was not distracted and was operating the boat normally at the time of the accident. R.212, l. 18 – 216, l. 1. She stated that Kranendonk was paying attention and had a good field of vision. R. 215, ll. 9 – 21.

Kranendonk's written statement was admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit 54.

R. 680. Kranendonk wrote:

As we left the no-wake zone I got the boat on plane and proceeded towards the direction of Pine Island. As soon as we passed the point on the starboard side I noticed a boat coming in our direction. I saw that they were heading in our direction and I immediately put the boat in neutral to slow down and give them right of way. After I had come off plane and slowed down, they proceeded to steer into us and then hitting our boat.

R. 680. Kranendonk told officers from the Department of Natural Resources ("DNR") that he was traveling approximately thirty miles per hour when he first saw the Christofoli Boat.

R. 471, ll. 3 – 6. Both Hair and Kranendonk stated that their boat slowed before impact. Breland could not recall whether the Kranendonk Boat slowed, but she remembered Kranendonk honking the horn and flashing lights. R199, ll. 5 – 14.

The Location of the Accident and the Two Boats

Defendant's Exhibits 1 and 2 help explain how this accident occurred. Defendant's Exhibit 1 is an aerial view of the lake. Exhibit 2 is a photograph of the GPS unit on the Kranendonk boat. R. 610, l. 9 – 612, l. 5. In the middle of Exhibit 2, the GPS track shows a quick turn and small uneven movements by the Kranendonk boat. (Defendant's Exhibit 2). These movements likely show the location of the accident.

When compared with Defendant's Exhibit 1, it is apparent that the accident occurred near a point. Hair told the police that the Christofoli boat "looked like they were coming right off the point." R. 242, ll. 7 – 9. Defendant's Exhibit 1 depicts Johnson's Marina/Lighthouse Marina on its left-hand side. (Defendant's Ex. 1). The Kranendonk Boat came from the direction of this marina. R. 235, ll. 14 – 16. At the bottom right-hand corner of defendant's Exhibit 1 is Susie Ebert Island. R. 612, ll. 8 – 9. The Coast Guard's auxiliary station is at the bottom center of Defendant's Exhibit 1 and sits on a peninsula, white in color that points directly at Susie Ebert Island. (Defendant's Exhibit 1). The Christofoli boat came from the Lexington side of the lake and passed between the Coast Guard station and Susie Ebert Island. R. 292, l. 16 – 293, l. 8. Another peninsula obscures the view of Johnson's Marina/Lighthouse Marina when traveling from Lexington between the Coast Guard station and Susie Ebert Island. R. 298, l. 19 – 299, l. 1. It is likely that the Christofoli Boat was coming around this point and into the Kranendonk Boat's path when the accident occurred.

According to DNR, this area of Lake Murray has the most boat traffic of any spot on the entire lake. R. 387, l. 21 – 388, l. 1. There was no dispute at trial that the lake was dark that night. Colt Lax ("Lax"), a passenger in the Christofoli Boat, described it as "very, very

dark.” R. 314, ll. 13 – 17. A DNR officer described the “black hole” effect on an operator’s night vision on Lake Murray:

So during the day you got some – you know, some really good visibility. Now, once you start getting into nighttime, you know, again I guess it depends on moonlight, so on and so forth, your visibility is vastly restricted. I mean, you’re not going to be able to see, you know, from pitch black dark. You don’t have – because of the vastness of the lake and the vast expanse, whatever background lights you may have, they would be so far away that it’s not going to illuminate what’s – what’s around you and what you’re looking at. So it makes things that are, you know, out in front of you, you know, much darker, **refer to it as a black hole out in front of you, so.**

R. 606, ll. 12 – 25. Both the Christofoli Boat and the Kranendonk Boat would have been faced with this “black hole.”

The two boats differed greatly in size and weight. The Kranendonk Boat was 23 feet long and made of fiberglass. R. 561, l. 14 – 561, l. 15. It had a center console. R. 561, ll. 3 – 5. It weighed approximately 3,500 pounds. R. 607, ll. 4 – 11. A DNR officer described the Kranendonk Boat as a “substantial size boat.” R. 561, ll. 2 – 3. The Christofoli Boat was an 18 foot aluminum boat. R. 274, ll. 12 – 16. It had a deep V hull. R. 274, ll. 12 – 16. It was made for striper fishing. R. 274, ll. 12 – 16. It had only two seats in it. R. 274, ll. 12 – 24. It was twenty years old. R. 291, ll. 3 – 6. Two of the passengers in the Christofoli Boat were not sitting on chairs affixed to the boat’s frame, but instead sat on fold-out lounge chairs. R. 278, ll. 12 – 16; R. 289, ll. 15 - 22. The Christofoli Boat weighed approximately 2,000 – 2,200 pounds, almost 1,300 pounds less than the Kranendonk Boat. R. 607, ll. 12 – 13. The great disparity in the boats’ size helps explain the disparity in the injuries of the two boats’ passengers.

Testimony from the Christofoli Boat

Christofoli described Lax as his “right-hand man” ever since they were four years old. R. 271, ll. 11 – 18. Christofoli and Lax took their girlfriends, the decedents, Amber Golden (“Golden”) and Kelli Bullard (“Bullard”) to eat dinner at O’Charley’s on the night of the accident. R. 273, ll. 22 – 25. Christofoli and Golden had previously spent the day fishing on the lake. R. 273, ll. 8 – 20. The two couples went to O’Charley’s at 8:00PM. R. 288, ll. 4 – 6. Christofoli claimed he had only two beers at O’Charley’s. R. 288, ll. 4 – 10.

Afterwards, they decided to take the Christofoli Boat to Lighthouse Marina to meet friends and drink R. 288, ll. 14 – 17; R. 288, ll. 18 – 21. Christofoli repeatedly testified that he was heading towards Lighthouse Marina, which is the same marina from where the Kranendonk Boat was leaving. R. 288, l. 14 – 298, l. 23. While they were in unrestricted water, Christofoli drove the boat at 40 mph. R. 291, ll. 3 – 6. Christofoli testified that he did not feel such a speed at night was unreasonable. R. 291, ll. 7 – 12.

The Christofoli boat encountered a pontoon boat between the Coast Guard auxiliary station and Susie Ebert Island. R. 292, ll. 13 – 18. The pontoon boat was coming from Lighthouse Marina. R. 293, ll. 18 – 23. Christofoli was concerned about whether the pontoon boat could see his boat. R. 295, ll. 12 – 16. Even though Christofoli claimed he would have had the right-of-way, the pontoon boat did not slow down and maintained its course. R. 279, l. 24 – 280, l. 15. Christofoli slowed his boat to approximately 20 – 25 mph to avoid the pontoon boat. R. 280, ll. 6 – 15. In his statement to DNR, Christofoli said that he “bumped the throttle up a little” after the pontoon boat passed. R. 295, l. 23 – 296, l. 3. He also said that he guessed that the pontoon boat had not seen him. R. 296, ll. 2 – 3.

Christofoli stated that the accident occurred in water where the speed limit is not restricted. R. 299, ll. 7 – 9. On direct examination, Christofoli claimed that soon after the encounter with the pontoon boat, he looked to his left and all he could see was “white,” which was the Kranendonk Boat. R. 281, ll. 15 – 25. Christofoli did not remember anything between the impact and making it to shore. R. 281, l. 22 – 282, l. 5. Christofoli’s leg was broken in the accident. R. 282, ll. 6 – 11.

Lax stated that the radio was playing at the time of the accident. R. 322, ll. 1 – 4. Lax stated that the accident happened between 15 and 30 seconds after their encounter with the pontoon boat. R. 322, ll. 5 – 10. When Lax looked to his left, all he could see was the white hull of a boat. R. 322, ll. 5 – 10. In his statement to DNR, Lax said that he “Saw white hull V-bottom boat off portside probably 20 yards at nine o’clock.” R. 347, l. 15 – 348, l. 11.

Lax claimed that they were going to the Dockside restaurant at Lake Murray Marina. R. 355, ll. 3 – 24. Lake Murray Marina is depicted on the center-right of Defendant’s Exhibit 1. It is recognizable because its white docks protrude from shore. Lax agreed on cross-examination that if they had been going to Lighthouse Marina, as stated by Christofoli, they would have had to turn into its channel. R. 349, ll. 16 – 21. It would have required a different path than if they had been going to Lake Murray Marina. R. 349, ll. 22 – 24. Lax denied that Christofoli turned the boat to head into Lighthouse Marina because they were going straight, heading towards Lake Murray Marina. R. 355, ll. 16 – 24. Bullard and Golden were tragically killed in the accident. DNR found beer cans in the Christofoli Boat. R.457, ll. 23 – 25.

Discussion

Had the trial court not qualified a DNR officer as an expert witness and allowed her to offer opinion testimony outside of the scope of her qualifications, the jury would likely have reached the correct conclusion about this case—it was a tragic, unavoidable accident for which no one was criminally responsible. The State originally called Sergeant Robin Camlin (“Camlin”) to testify about her investigation of this matter. She worked in a different region and was only “somewhat familiar” with Lake Murray. R. 450, ll. 19 – 23. She testified about her interview of Kranendonk. R. 459, l. 19 – 462, l. 18.

The solicitor then began questioning Camlin about boating terminology and the rules of navigation. R. 466, ll. 7 – 467, l. 20. She testified that the most efficient way to operate a boat is when it is on plane. R. 466, ll. 7 – 18. She testified that the navigational rules require a boat operator, if he sees a red light on another vessel, to either stop or alter his direction. R. 466, ll. 22 – 25. If an operator sees a green light on the other vessel, he should interpret that as meaning he should maintain his course and speed. R. 484, ll. 15 – 22. All boats have the responsibility to remain alert and do whatever they can to avoid a collision with another boat. R. 485, ll. 11 – 18.

Camlin claimed that during her interrogation of Kranendonk, he told her that he saw the Christofoli Boat on his boat’s radar. R. 469, ll. 13 – 15. She claimed that Kranendonk began telling her that he saw red and green lights, then supposedly changed his story and said the lights were red and finally told her they were red and green. R. 469, l. 22 – 470, l. 6. She also claimed that Kranendonk could not tell her what the proper response was if a boat operator saw a red and white light on another vessel. R. 470, ll. 5 – 11. On cross-examination, Camlin admitted that Kranendonk gave her this statement after being

awakened on the day after the accident, when he had been in the hospital until at least 4:00 AM. R. 471, l. 13 – 473, l. 18.

On redirect examination, the prosecutor asked Camlin if Kranendonk “had only seen a green light, based on your experience, would he have been able to cause this kind of damage on the side of the boat?” R. 489, ll. 23 – 25. Defense counsel’s objection was sustained because the answer called for speculation. R. 490, ll. 1 – 9. The solicitor then attempted to ask which way the boats were facing and another objection was sustained. R. 490, ll. 11 – 18. The court again sustained an objection when the solicitor attempted to ask Camlin which boat had the right-of-way. R. 491, ll. 7 – 16. Judge Cooper stated, “She wasn’t there. She can’t re-create the accident.” R. 491, ll. 15 – 16.

After yet another attempt to elicit opinion testimony from Camlin, Judge Cooper stated, “I sustain the objection to this entire line of questioning. She is not in a position to re-create the accident. She can say what she saw. She can say what he did but asking her opinion about how the accident happened is outside the rules.” R. 492, ll. 1 – 5. After another objection, Judge Cooper held a bench conference and then dismissed the jury. R. 496, ll. 6 – 19.

Outside of the presence of the jury, the solicitor told the court she wanted to qualify Camlin “as an expert in boat regulations.” R. 496, ll. 21 – 25. After Judge Cooper asked her, “For what purpose?” the solicitor responded:

In order to ask her questions about what regulations [were] violated or could have been violated since there seems to be some question as to what the regulations are and aren’t and what was done and wasn’t done by both the victim and the defendant.

R. 497, ll. 2 – 6. Trial counsel objected on the grounds that the testimony would be cumulative and prejudicial under rule 403. He also stated that her testimony would not aid the trier of fact. R. 498, l. 15 – 499, l. 7. Judge Cooper ruled that he would allow her to testify “given the burden on the State.” R. 500, l. 17 – 19. Trial counsel then asked for a continuing objection to this testimony. R. 500, ll. 20 – 25.

During voir dire, it was determined that Camlin’s captain’s license had expired. R. 502 ll. 7 – 23. Camlin had never published any articles in the area of boating navigation. R. 506 ll. 9 – 11. None of her opinions had ever been subjected to peer review. R. 506, ll. 12 – 15. She had never been a presenter at a seminar. R. 507, ll. 15 – 16. Trial counsel objected to her being qualified as an expert. R. 507, l. 19. After stating that she was qualified under rule 702, Judge Cooper then responded to a question from defense counsel as to whether she would be prevented from reconstructing the accident by stating, “Well, she can offer an opinion based on a hypothetical that if ABC and D occurred, is that within the navigational rules or does it comply with the navigational rules in the State of South Carolina. I think she can offer that.” R. 507, l. 20 – 661, l. 3. At this point, the jury returned to the courtroom. R. 509, ll. 5 – 6.

Before the jury and subject to Kranendonk’s objection, the trial court qualified Camlin “as an expert in the field of boating rules and regulations.” R. 511, ll. 2 – 7. The solicitor asked what navigational rules and regulations Kranendonk violated. R. 511, ll. 10 – 15. Camlin testified that Kranendonk did not keep a proper lookout. R. 511, ll. 14 – 15. Despite further objections from defense counsel that were overruled, Camlin stated that if you keep a proper lookout, you have to “see it, know what it is and interpret it and take

action to avoid a collision.” R. 513, ll. 1 – 15. Kranendonk objected to this answer and the objection was overruled. R. 513, ll. 12 – 15.

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