STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-210207

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

STEVEN KRANENDONK,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
SEP 26 2013
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-210207

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

STEVEN KRANENDONK,APPELLANT.

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

The party offering the expert testimony has the burden of showing the witness possesses the necessary learning, skill, or practical experience to enable the witness to give opinion testimony. State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 471 S.E.2d 689 (1996); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993); Henry, 329 S.C. at 274, 495 S.E.2d at 466. Generally, however, defects in the amount and quality of the expert's education or experience go to the weight to be accorded the expert's testimony and not to its admissibility. Id.; Morris, 376 S.C. at 203, 656 S.E.2d at 366; Brown v. Carolina Emergency Physicians, P.A., 348 S.C. 569, 580, 560 S.E.2d 624, 629 (Ct. App. 2001).

During the State's proffer, Camlin testified she had been a boater her entire life and that she had taken her first boating class when she was hired by DNR in 1990. She

said she attended the Federal Law Enforcement Training Center for advanced maritime law enforcement and was awarded a captain's license by the Coast Guard. Camlin testified she had been teaching boater education courses on behalf of DNR for both the public and other law enforcement officials for 12 to 14 years, including serving as the primary instructor for the DNR marine law enforcement boating school. She testified she teaches classes on boating under the influence, general boater education, and marine law enforcement, and that the law enforcement classes include teaching "navigation rules of the road." (R. p.501, line 13-p.505, line 16). The trial court found that although Camlin was not offering "scientific testimony," she still qualified as an expert under Rule 702 because her specialized knowledge and opinions may assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact at issue – specifically whether Appellant acted with recklessness or not as charged in the indictment. The trial judge further found Camlin in fact possessed the specialized knowledge of boating navigational rules to assist the trier of fact. (R. p. 507, line 20-p.508, line 6).

The State submits that in light of the evidence proffered, the trial court clearly did not abuse its discretion in qualifying Camlin as an expert in boating rules and regulations. Camlin identified and explained several specific rules from the book of "Navigation Rules" including: Rule 5 (proper look out), Rule 6 (safe speed), Rule 8 (action to avoid collision), Rule 15 (crossing situation), and Rule 16 (action by the give-way vessel). She described each rule, testified as to what Appellant himself said about his actions before the crash, and then offered an opinion on whether, based on those actions, Appellant acted in compliance with the rules. (R. p.511, line 2-p.517, line 20). She did not offer an opinion on whether a violation of the rules would constitute "recklessness" and did not

improperly offer testimony on an issue of law. See Commander, 396 S.C. at 264, 721 S.E.2d at 318 (noting that expert testimony on issues of law is usually inadmissible).

Thus, here testimony was appropriately offered in the “form of an opinion or otherwise.”

Boating rules and regulations are not within the range of knowledge of the average juror. Indeed, Camlin had acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of boating rules and regulations as would enable her to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which was beyond the scope of the jury’s good judgment and common knowledge, namely whether Appellant’s actions or omissions violated those boating rules and regulations. Henry, supra; Goode, supra. In other words, Camlin was better qualified than the fact finder to form an opinion on the subject of boating rules and regulations. This is all that was required for the trial court to qualify her as an expert and to admit her testimony. Ellis, supra; Mizzell, supra; Gooding, supra. It was simply a judgment call made in the trial court’s sound discretion. It does not rise to the level of an abuse of that discretion simply because Camlin was not a published author or a presenter at seminars. Indeed, nothing in the record shows the trial court’s decision was based on a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. Morris, supra; Gooding, supra; Seuss, supra. Furthermore, because Camlin was properly qualified as an expert witness, any further objections to Camlin’s qualifications went to the weight of her testimony, not its admissibility. Martin, 391 S.C. at 515-16, 706 S.E.2d at 44. Finally, the State submits that in light of the trial court’s jury charge on expert witnesses, Camlin’s testimony could not have been given greater weight than that of a lay witness and, therefore, could not have been unduly prejudicial to Appellant. State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 503, 671 S.E.2d 606, 609 (2009).

For all of these reasons, the State submits the trial court's qualification of Camlin as an expert in navigational boating rules and admission of her testimony under Rule 702, SCRE, did not constitute an abuse of discretion. Additionally, to the extent Camlin should not have been qualified as an expert, Appellant suffered no prejudice from her testimony. Therefore, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

II.

Appellant's pre-trial challenge to the trial court's admission of evidence of his blood alcohol content is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to renew his objection at trial, and even if preserved, the trial court properly admitted the evidence where the officer had probable cause to seize Appellant's blood pursuant to section 50-21-116 of the South Carolina Code.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting evidence of his blood alcohol content because the State lacked probable cause to seize his blood under section 50-21-116 of the South Carolina Code. He contends the officer lacked probable cause to believe Appellant violated section 50-21-113³ when the officer seized the blood pursuant to section 50-21-116. Appellant argues the facts supporting probable cause were "shaky" particularly in light of the fact Appellant had already passed a field sobriety test conducted by another officer. Appellant claims that despite the seizing officer's lack of actual knowledge about the field sobriety test, his "imputed" knowledge of this "exculpatory fact" weighs against the finding of probable cause. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is both unpreserved for appellate review and without merit. By failing to make a contemporaneous objection when the blood alcohol evidence was actually introduced into evidence at trial, Appellant waived his right to pursue this argument on appeal. Additionally, probable cause to seize Appellant's blood existed because the facts and circumstances within the seizing officer's knowledge were sufficient for a reasonable person to believe Appellant had committed felony boating under the influence. Therefore, this argument should be denied and dismissed with prejudice.

³ The South Carolina Code titles this offense: "Operation of moving water device while under the influence of alcohol or drugs resulting in property damage, great bodily injury or death;" however, this crime is commonly known as felony boating under the influence.

Initially, the State submits Appellant's challenge to admission of the blood alcohol evidence is not preserved for appellate review. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

Generally, a motion in limine seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary and subject to change based on developments during trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999). A ruling on a motion in limine does not constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Therefore, an objection must be made at the time the evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993). "However, where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question, the aggrieved party does not need to renew the objection." State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); see State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156-57, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009) ("This exception is based on the fact that when the trial court's ruling is not preliminary, but instead is clearly a final ruling, there is no need to renew the objection.").

Here, although Appellant made a pre-trial motion to suppress the blood alcohol evidence and attempted to renew that motion during the seizing officer's testimony, he failed to object when the blood was introduced, and failed to object to testimony about Appellant's blood alcohol concentration. Indeed, Appellant affirmatively stated he had no objection to the admission of the blood. Cf. State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Dicapua's sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua's counsel specifically stated he had 'no objection.' We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape."). Accordingly, Appellant's pre-trial objection to the admission of the blood alcohol evidence was expressly waived, and the issue cannot properly be raised or reviewed on appeal. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) ("When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review."); see also State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) ("A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced."); State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 613, 486 S.E.2d 762, 766 (Ct. App. 1997) ("This testimony was admitted without objection. Because Burton failed to object, he is barred from raising this issue on appeal."). Thus, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal, and his conviction should be affirmed.⁴

⁴ Appellant appears to argue no further objection was needed after the pre-trial ruling to preserve this issue for appellate review. He contends the pre-trial admissibility finding was "final" because the solicitor mentioned Appellant's blood alcohol level during her opening statement. (Brief of Appellant, p.21-22). However, this does not relieve Appellant from his obligation to renew his objection when the blood alcohol

In any event, the State submits Appellant's argument is without merit. In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Manning, 400 S.C. 257, 264, 734 S.E.2d 314, 317 (Ct. App. 2012). Thus, an appellate court is bound by the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id.

Section 50-21-116 of the South Carolina Code provides in part:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a person must submit to either one or a combination of chemical tests of his breath, blood, or urine for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol, drugs, or a combination of alcohol and drugs, if there is probable cause to believe that the person violated or is under arrest for a violation of Section 50-21-113.

S.C. Code Ann. § 50-21-116 (2008) (emphasis added). Section 50-21-113 in turn provides in part:

A person who, while under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or the combination of alcohol and drugs operates a moving water device, or is in actual control of a moving water device within this State and causes great bodily injury or death of a person other than himself, is guilty of a felony.

S.C. Code Ann. § 50-21-113 (2008). Probable cause to arrest without a warrant exists when the "circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge are sufficient for a reasonable person to believe a crime has been committed by the person to be arrested." Manning, 400 S.C. at 267, 734 S.E.2d at 319 (quoting State v. Cuevas, 365 S.C. 198, 203, 616 S.E.2d 718, 721 (Ct. App. 2005)). In determining whether probable cause exists, all the evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge may be considered, including the details observed while responding to information received. Id. Probable cause turns not

evidence was offered at trial if he wished to preserve the issue for appeal. The opening statement serves to inform the jury of the general nature of the action and the issues involved so they can better understand the evidence presented, State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 284, 350 S.E.2d 180, 183 (1986); however, opening statements themselves are not evidence. See Gilchrist v. State, 350 S.C. 221, 226 n.1, 565 S.E.2d 281, 284 n.1 (2002) (acknowledging the PCR court's finding that opening statements and closing arguments are not evidence).

on the individual's actual guilt or innocence, but on whether facts within the officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was guilty of a crime. Id. (quoting Jackson v. City of Abbeville, 366 S.C. 662, 666, 623 S.E.2d 656, 658 (Ct. App. 2005)).

The Appellate court reviews the circuit court's probable cause determination under a "clear error" standard. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 48–49, 625 S.E.2d at 220; Manning, 400 S.C. at 267, 734 S.E.2d at 319. The finding that an arrest was made based upon probable cause is conclusive on appeal where supported by evidence. State v. Jones, 268 S.C. 227, 233, 233 S.E.2d 287, 289 (1977); Manning, 400 S.C. at 267, 734 S.E.2d at 319. Here, the trial court found that under the totality of the circumstances Sergeant Bickley had probable cause to draw Appellant's blood because he had probable cause to believe Appellant violated the felony boating under the influence statute, section 50-21-113 of the Code. (R. p.100, line 19-p.107, line 22). The State submits a reasonable person with Bickley's knowledge would have probable cause to believe Appellant violated the relevant statute. Bickley knew there had been a fatal boat crash. Appellant admitted to Bickley he was operating one of the boats in that crash and admitted he had been drinking alcohol that day. Eric Hair, a passenger on Appellant's boat, told Bickley he and Appellant had been partying that day. Appellant had bloodshot eyes and smelled of alcohol even though it was more than three hours after the crash. The State submits these circumstances were certainly sufficient to establish probable cause. Compare to Manning, 400 S.C. at 268, 734 S.E.2d at 319 (finding probable cause to arrest Manning for driving under the influence where the officer knew Manning was the driver, Manning smelled of alcohol, and Manning had sustained trauma consistent with an accident) and

Cuevas, 365 S.C. at 204, 616 S.E.2d at 721 (finding probable cause to arrest Cuevas for driving under the influence where Cuevas left the scene of the accident, had a strong smell of alcohol on his breath, had an open beer container in his vehicle, and had a bruise on his chest).

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